

EuroGOOS Publication No. 11 November 1998 EG98.52

# The Mediterranean Forecasting System Science Plan

Published by:

EuroGOOS Office, Room 346/18 Southampton Oceanography Centre Empress Dock, Southampton SO14 3ZH, UK Tel: +44 (0)1703 596 242 or 262 Fax: +44 (0)1703 596 399 E-mail: N.Flemming@soc.soton.ac.uk WWW: http://www.soc.soton.ac.uk/OTHERS/EUROGOOS/eurogoosindex.html

© EuroGOOS 1998

First published 1998

ISBN 0-904175-35-9

To be cited as:

Pinardi, N and N C Flemming, (eds) (1998) "The Mediterranean Forecasting System Science Plan", EuroGOOS Publication No.11, Southampton Oceanography Centre, Southampton.ISBN 0-904175-35-9

#### **Cover picture**

**Large image:** "A water perspective of Europe", courtesy of Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute. The white lines show the watershed boundaries between the different catchment areas flowing into the regional seas of Europe.

*Inset image:* Height of the sea surface in the north Atlantic and Arctic simulated by the OCCAM global ocean model, courtesy of David Webb, James Rennell Division, Southampton Oceanography Centre.

### Mediterranean Forecasting System Pilot Project

**EU-MAST Project** 

MAS3-CT98-0171



September 1998 - March 2001



IMGA-CNR Numerical Laboratory

### EuroGOOS Personnel

Chairman	J D Woods	Imperial College, London, UK
Officers	H Dahlin L Droppert M Glass D Kohnke S Vallerga C Tziavos (Chairman TPWG) D Prandle (Chairman SAWG)	
Secretariat N C Flemming (Director) J Fischer (Deputy Director S M Marine (Secretary)		Southampton Oceanography Centre, UK University of Hamburg, Germany Southampton Oceanography Centre, UK

#### Existing or forthcoming EuroGOOS Publications:

1.	Strategy for EuroGOOS 1996	ISBN 0-904175-22-7
2.	EuroGOOS Annual Report 1996	ISBN 0-904175-25-1
3.	The EuroGOOS Plan 1997	ISBN 0-904175-26-X
4.	The EuroGOOS Marine Technology Survey	ISBN 0-904175-29-4
5.	The EuroGOOS brochure, 1997	
6.	The Science Base of EuroGOOS	ISBN 0-90417530-8
7.	Proceedings of the Hague Conference, 1997, Elsevier	ISBN 0-444-82892-3
8.	The EuroGOOS Extended Plan	ISBN 0-904175-32-4
9.	EuroGOOS Atlantic Workshop report	ISBN 0-904175-33-2
10.	EuroGOOS Annual Report, 1997	ISBN 0-904175-34-0
11.	Mediterranean Forecasting System Science Plan	ISBN 0-904175-35-9
12.	Requirements Survey analysis	ISBN 0-904175-36-7
13.	The EuroGOOS Technology Plan Working Group Report	ISBN 0-904175-37-5

# Contents

Preface	2
Executive Summary	3
Introduction	4
What is ocean forecasting?	4
Scientific background	4
Technological background	
Why the Mediterranean Sea?	16
Identification of the user community	
Benefits	19
Economic and Social Impacts	20
Overall Objectives of MFS	21
Scientific and pre-operational goals	
Scientific	
Pre-operational	
The Mediterranean Sea: scientific background	
The monitoring system for Mediterranean forecasting	
Ship-of-opportunity temperature and salinity monitoring Ship-of-opportunity pelagic system monitoring	
Mediterranean Moored Multisensor Array (M <sup>3</sup> A)	
Remotely sensed SST, colour and sea surface topography operational analyses	
Lagrangian measurements of currents and water properties	
Acoustic tomography observations Numerical models and data assimilation methods	
Overall Strategic Plan	
First Phase (1997-2000)- Short term forecasts	
Second Phase (2000-2003)- Regional and medium range forecasts	
Third Phase (2003-2008)- Pre-operational	
The MFS Pilot Project	
The EuroGOOS Mediterranean Task Team	37
Acknowledgements	38
Annexe 1 - Executive Summary of the MFS Pilot Project	39
Annexe 2 - List of Participants to the MFS Pilot Project	40
Annexe 3 - Workpackage Structure of the MFS Pilot Project	44
References	47

### Preface

In 1995 the EuroGOOS Scientific Steering Group (EuroGOOS, 1996) decided to start a Mediterranean Test Case Task Team (EMTT) in order to elaborate the overall strategy for scientific research toward operational oceanography in the Mediterranean Sea.

The EMTT is composed of representatives from about 60 laboratories in Europe and the developing countries around the Mediterranean basin. The members of the EMTT Scientific Steering Committee are listed in section 7 of this document. The EMTT held three meetings during 1996 to establish the scientific and strategic planning of the EuroGOOS Mediterranean Regional Test Case, hereafter called the Mediterranean Forecasting System or MFS. This document explain the science plan for MFS which considers ten years of scientific research and capacity building activities toward operational oceanography in the Mediterranean area.

The first phase of implementation of MFS will start in September 1998 with the MFS Pilot Project, funded by the MAST Program of the European Union. The partners, associate partners and subcontractors of the MFS Pilot Project are listed in the Annex.

We would like to thank the EuroGOOS Science and Technology advisory Groups for support and assistance in preparing this science plan. Ms. E. Masetti of IMGA-CNR, Italy, and Ms. S. Marine of the EuroGOOS Office are acknowledged for skilful editorial help.

# **Executive Summary**

The Mediterranean Forecasting System (MFS) science plan is based upon a major overall goal: "To explore, model and quantify the potential predictability of the marine ecosystem variability at the level of primary producers from the overall basin scale to the coastal/shelf areas for the time scales of weeks to months through the development and implementation of automatic monitoring and a nowcastingforecasting modelling system". Specifically, the MFS overall pre-operational goal is: "... to show the feasibility of a Mediterranean basin operational system for predictions of currents and biochemical parameters in the overall basin and coastal/shelf areas and to develop interfaces to user communities for dissemination of forecast results".

The user community interested in Mediterranean Sea forecasting is clearly connected to the exploitation of coastal marine resources, protection of life and health, and the safeguarding of the local environment in addition to long term atmospheric forecasting and climate impact studies.

The MFS has established the strategy that will make possible the forecast of marine parameters in the coastal areas of the Mediterranean Sea. The rationale is that coastal-shelf areas around the basin are narrow and shelf breaks very steep so that the observational network and the modelling system should consider a hierarchy of nested observational monitoring systems and numerical models. In other words the general circulation flow field and its associated transport of chemical and biological parameters is a local source/sink process of paramount importance for the coastal areas, comparable to the terrestrial inputs and to the locally determined flow field structure.

The plan for technological and scientific development of the different components of the MFS is synthesised as follows:

1. Construction of a prototype permanent monitoring system for the physicalbiochemical components of the ecosystem in the Mediterranean Sea at adequate space-time resolution for model initialisation and forecast;

- 2. Construction of a basin-wide ocean General Circulation nowcast/forecast Model and associated data assimilation techniques, for the physical components of the Mediterranean Sea ecosystem, capable of predicting the currents on the time scales of few weeks to several months, together with nested regional/coastal/shelf models;
- Construction of a coupled atmosphereocean regional model over the Mediterranean area. Techniques for coupling with extended range atmospheric simulations will be assessed;
- 4. Construction of coupled biochemicalphysical models capable of predicting the nutrients and phytoplankton biomass variability in the marine ecosystems of different coastal areas.

These developments should be implemented in three strategic phases, occurring on a total time range of 10 years.

The MFS first phase has started its activities with the launch of a Pilot Project funded by the European Union-MAST program. Extracts from the planning and working documents prepared for the Mediterranean Forecasting System Pilot Project are presented in the last section of this document.

In late 1997 the Mediterranean component of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) recognised was formed and by the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC). The Mediterranean Forecasting System and including created by EuroGOOS non-European participation from many countries will be treated as a contribution to the authorities of MedGOOS as and when appropriate.

### What is ocean forecasting?

The goal of an ocean operational forecasting system is to produce **predictions of the 3-D physical sea state and related marine biochemical components** for a certain time period. In order to produce such predictions, the system should include, systematically, an observational network with real time data acquisition capabilities and analysis systems, numerical models and data assimilation procedures.

Ocean forecasts are useful as a component of any modern management of coastal marine resources in view of the anthropogenic stress put on these areas, the problems connected to the health of the sea and the safety and efficiency of marine industries. The scientific community will greatly benefit from the forecasting activities that can provide a coordinated and continuous data set of marine parameters to describe the ocean variability at unprecedented space-time resolution.

In the past five years, EuroGOOS (European Global Ocean Observing System, EuroGOOS, 1996) started to collaborate with and maximise the benefits from existing activities in operational oceanography and has helped to advance European operational oceanography in GOOS. Furthermore, it has promoted communications within the scientific community on the issues of ocean forecasting. Thus it has become possible to start investigations aimed at the implementation, calibration and validation of regional forecasting system test cases.

The present science and strategic plan defines the EuroGOOS Mediterranean Test Case (Pinardi et al., 1997) technological and scientific research goals together with a strategic plan. The aim is to define the steps which, in the next ten years, could give rise to an ocean forecasting system for the entire Mediterranean Sea region and its coastal areas.

### Scientific background

Oceanographic forecasting for waves and currents in different regions of the world ocean started in the mid-eighties. Progress has been rapid and several systems have been put in place, especially for the wave component. Observational requirements for global ocean forecasting activities are very demanding so that in the past the development of ocean forecasting systems has mainly occurred for limited regions. Up to now, the existing examples of ocean forecasting systems have been mainly a proofof-concept exercise.

Forecasting had its early successes in and is being meteorology continuously developed in operational weather forecasting centres. The daily to weekly forecast skill has increased steadily from the seventies (see Fig. 1). The reasons for the increased skill are: 1) the increased availability of high quality and good coverage data sets; 2) the development of more accurate schemes of numerical modelling and data assimilation (e.g., increased resolution of the models and multivariate assimilation techniques): the advancement 3) in understanding of some of the key processes which drive the atmospheric general circulation. Atmospheric weather forecasts can be now usefully accurate for up to a week - 10 days. More recently seasonal coupled oceanatmosphere forecasts have shown skill on the range of 13 months or longer for the sea surface temperatures in the Tropical Pacific (Fig. 2) ENSO occur (El Ninõ-Southern where Oscillation phenomenon, Philander, 1990). This enhancement in predictability is connected to the tight coupling between atmosphere and ocean in the tropics. In this case it has been proved that the ocean initial condition for the seasonal forecast is of crucial importance for the forecast skill and thus an observational network (McPhaden, 1995) and data assimilation techniques have been developed for ocean models (Derber and Rosati, 1989, Anderson et al., 1996) in order to initialise the coupled models with more accurate ocean initial conditions (Latif et al., 1993).



**Figure 1:** Here we represent, as a function of the past 17 years, an index which is a measure of how many days a forecast can give "useful" information. The dashed line indicate monthly values and the continuous one the average value as a function of ECMWF years of forecast activities (courtesy of ECMWF).

An Ocean Prediction System for deep oceanic waters adjacent to coastal areas is challenging with respect to the meteorological case because: a) the required modelling resolution is high (5-10 km) and it is necessary to consider narrow and topographic "steep" areas, such as shelves and shelf breaks; b) a number of user community needs require the implementation of ecologically based models which are extremely sensitive to details and accuracy in physical forcing description.

Nevertheless, ocean forecasting of some physical variables started as soon as numerical ocean modelling reached sufficient maturity at the beginning of the eighties. In the oceanographic community, different ocean forecasting systems have been developed depending on which marine state variable had to be predicted. Sea level and wave forecasting started first due to the obvious user demand for monitoring of coastal flooding and ship routeing.

Nowadays wave forecasting is operational for the world ocean (Komen et al., 1994). Both sea level and wave forecasts depend crucially on external forcing, such as surface wave information, tides and surface atmospheric winds, parameters which have been available for some time and the measurement accuracy of which has been increasing from the middle eighties. Several regional sea level and wave forecasting models exist for limited regions of the oceans such as the Baltic and North Sea. These models assumed that connection with the remaining parts of the ocean (deep and stratified) were less important than local wind effects and tidal forcing in the region. While this can be true for the Northern European shelf areas, it is not true for the remaining parts of the north-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and other regions of the global ocean where deep ocean effects drive part of the sea level variability. The forecasting systems associated with both sea level and waves do not normally use data assimilation strategies in view of the fact that in those systems initial conditions play a minor role compared to external forcing.

Development of ocean current forecasting has progressed more slowly than for the sea level and waves because of the lack of routine and accurate measurements needed to initialise the models. Predictions of currents raise problems similar to those found in atmospheric weather forecasting since the predictability time scale of the system is practically set by the accuracy with which the initial condition is known. Therefore deep ocean and coastal current forecasts are at the stage of research exercises though some systems under development could soon start to become operational.



**Figure 2:** Time dependence of the skill of ENSO forecasts measured by the correlation between observed and predicted sea surface temperature fields over the tropical Pacific Ocean. The curves represent forecasts commencing in January, April, July and October of the first year of a 2-year period (Cane, personal communication).

The ocean current forecasting community grew up in the eighties mainly to forecast on the mesoscale (i.e., the "weather" of the ocean) for the North Atlantic Gulf Stream area. The problem here, as in atmospheric weather forecasting, is the acquisition of accurate initial conditions and thus the work has been largely limited to regions of the world ocean where such acquisition was possible by the scientific community itself. The most recent advances in this field consist of the development of original data treatment procedures to retrieve relevant information for assimilation in three dimensional hydrodynamic models (Lai et al., 1994). A real time shipboard forecasting system has also been developed (Fig. 3) (Robinson, 1994).

This system has proven to be capable of forecasting the mesoscales in the time frame of few days and weeks. An intermediate regional modelling approach has been taken for the Eastern North Atlantic where a primitive equation ocean model is forced by atmospheric analyses to produce nowcasts of SST and forecasts of water level in the coastal areas (Ezer et al., 1992) for few days in advance.

The economic and social importance of ENSO predictions generated the first global ocean assimilation system (Derber and Rosati et al., 1989), developments in the assimilation of satellite derived sea surface topography (Ezer and Mellor, 1994, Fukumori and Melanotte-Rizzoli, 1995) and intercomparison studies between in situ and satellite sea level assimilation (Carton et al., 1996). Forecasting at global ocean scale is now under the development at the NCEP (National Center for Environmental Predictions, Washington, DC, US), UK Meteorological Office and ECMWF, with fully coupled ocean and atmosphere models for the seasonal time scales.



Figure 3: Schematic of HOPS, the Harvard Ocean Prediction System.

Ecosystem numerical models, e.g., biogeochemical process models coupled to three dimensional hydrodynamic models, are now capable of predicting the seasonal nutrient cycling in the water column with reasonable skill and they can also estimate levels of primary productivity of the open and coastal sea areas. During the eighties both "aggregated" biochemical models and detailed multicomponent models were developed for the pelagic subsystem. Simulation experiments have shown the tight coupling of primary production to the upper mixed layer evolution and several models have shown skill in capturing the primary production seasonal cycle in major ocean basins (Fasham, 1995, Sarmiento et al., 1993). Validation and calibration of complex ecological models has started only recently, especially for the North Sea and the ERSEM model (European Regional Seas Ecosystem Model, Baretta et al., 1995, see Fig. 4a). Future developments



**Figure 4a:** ERSEM box structure. The deep boxes are divided into two layers, the top 30m labelled as boxes 1 to 5 whilst the deep boxes are labelled 11 to 15. Field data for box 6 from the ECMOD dataset (upper panel) and the BODC data set (lower panel) compared to model simulations for phosphate, silicate and nitrate. (From Baretta et al., 1995)

concern the representation of secondary production with a particular attention for mesozooplankton and higher trophic levels (GLOBEC, 1997). An advanced version of ERSEM coupled to a one dimensional mixing model (Allen et al., 1998) and to a fully three dimensional model of the Adriatic Sea has been recently set up (Zavatarelli et al., 1998) and the simulated primary productivity levels are being compared with data (Fig. 4b).



Figure 4b: Adriatic Sea ecosystem model simulation of the chlorophyll seasonal cycle. The upper panel shows the surface chlorophyll in the Northern, Central and Southern Adriatic as function of months from CZCS colour scanner satellite sensor. The lower panel show the surface Chlorophyll from a model simulation averaged over the same three regions.(from Zavatarelli et al., 1998)

Overall the prediction skill for waves and sea level is linked to the predictability time scale of the surface winds which is up to one week at middle latitudes. The predictability time scale for the three dimensional temperature field at middle latitudes is again of the order of few weeks limited by the errors in the initialisation field and the intrinsic nonlinearity of the system. Predictability time scales of several months for Sea Surface Temperature (SST) have been discovered in the Pacific tropical areas together with some of the atmospheric parameters (see fig. 5 by Moron et al., 1998). The potential for long range (several months to years) predictions at mid-latitudes has not been fully investigated yet, either in the atmosphere or oceans. Furthermore, the computational requirements of fully coupled ocean atmosphere forecasting systems are still very high and the results are difficult to downscale to the coastal areas. The predictability of the ecological system, both in the open ocean and in the coastal/shelf areas, has still to be assessed. However, simulations of seasonal primary production show relevant skill at these time scales. It is timely therefore to design ocean forecasting systems capable of ascertaining the potential of predictions at short and medium range time scales, e.g., from a week to few months, for the interesting marine parameters, from the open ocean to the coastal areas. The Mediterranean offers the opportunity for such a system to be built and to be an example for other parts of the world ocean.



**Figure 5** Standardised rainfall anomaly indices for (a) Sahel, (b) India and (c) Nordeste. Thin solid lines show the three GCM simulations, thick solid is the ensemble mean of GCM, thick dashed is the observed. Since lines are very close we can say that potential predictability of rainfall is high. From Moron et al. (1998)

Ta	able 1:	^= varia	able relevant	to topic or iss	sue ·	< = variable th	nat can be	affected by	this activity	,
VARIABLES	VARIABLES		ENV	IRONMENTAL P	ROTECTION ISS	UES				
					stem health - Biod					
		Coral reef	Wetlands incl.	Spawning &	Macrophyte	Habitat change	Genetic	Non-indig.	Comm'y	Eutrophication
		Ecosystems	Mangroves	Nursery Areas	Communities	Change	Change	Species	Structure	HAB
Wind field										
Wave height		<^		^?	^?	^?				
Wave period				^?	^?	^?				
Sea level		^	^	^	^	^				
Wet precip.										
Dry precip.										
Reflectance		^								
PAR					^					
Sea ice										
Coastline change			^			^			^	۸
Depth correlated	Salinity	^	^	^	^	^		^	^	
	Temperature	^	^	^	^	^		^	^	
	Current speed		^		^	^				
	Curr. Direction		^		^	^				
	Diss. Oxygen	^				^	^	^		<^
	PH									
	Nitrate			۸	^	^		^	^	^
	Phosphate			۸	^	۸		^	^	^
	Silicate					۸				^
	pCO2, alkalinity									
	Susp. sed. conc.	^		۸	^	۸			^	
	Susp. sed. comp.					۸				
Biomass	Phytopl. density	^			<^	۸		^	^	
	Phytopl. prod'n	^								
	Phytopl. comp.									
	Zoopl. number			^		٨				
	Zoopl. species			^		^			^	
	Nuisance spec.			^						
Bottom										
Sedimentary	Character				^	^				
	composition				^	^				
Benthic Comm.	Species	^								
	Numbers	^								
bathymetry										
[CONTA	MINANTS]	^	^	۸		٨	^		^	<^

#### Technological background

In 1997 the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) Committee (GOOS Coastal Workshop) prepared a set of tables (GOOS, 1997) which list the variables that are needed in the coastal zone for different purposes. Our Table 1 is a reproduction of some of the variables listed in GOOS (1997).

Some of the variables listed in Table 1 are already recorded automatically (surface measurements in general) and are transmitted through the Global Teleconnection System (GTS) to the meteorological centres. Technology for continuous-automatic monitoring of the variables listed in Table 1 has been only partially developed. In Table 2 we show the consolidated technology for some of the variables.

Most of the instruments listed in Table 2 have been developed following the needs of the forecasting/modelling community. For example, sea level and wave forecasting in the ocean has prompted the development and the usage of *in situ* moored stations to monitor the surface sea state regimes in open ocean and near coastal areas. Several of these stations have been now located in crucial monitoring areas of the European shelves (Miendl, 1996, Golmen, 1997).

Table 2: Proven technologies for continuous/automatic and *in situ* measurements and for routine monitoring

Variable	Instrument/System/platform (Satellite/Buoy)				
Sea level / tides	Tide gauges (pressure and acoustic), seabed echosounder (inverted echosounder) satellite altimeter				
Meteorological variables, e.g.: air temperature, atmospheric pressure, humidity, wind velocity and direction, solar radiation	Land-based observation and data collection, platforms, buoys and observation towers with telemetry using VHF, HF and Satellites, shipborne deck/bridge observations				
Extent of sea ice	Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) Self Scanning Microwave Instrument (SSMI) and shore based radar				
Photosynthetically available radiation	In situ sensors				
Wave period, height	Wave rider buoys with telemetry, satellite based SAR, altimeter				
Wave direction, frequency, spectra	Shore-based radar, wave directional buoys with telemetry				
Sea Surface Temperature	In situ sensors, satellite radiometers, drifting buoys				
Vertical profile of temperature	XBT				
Vertical profile of salinity and temperature	CTD, XCTD				
Surface currents	Shore-based high frequency radars (e.g., OSCR, CODAR) wind-sea coupled models, ADCP, moored and drifting buoys				
Vertical profile of currents	ADCP, current meters				
Salinity	In situ sensors, discrete samplers				
Dissolved oxygen	In situ sensors, discrete samplers				
Ocean colour (surface chlorophyll)	Ocean scanner				
Turbidity and suspended sediments	<i>In situ</i> sensors, bottom mounted acoustic instruments, satellite optical sensors, moored buoys				
Reflectance (oil spill detection)	Satellite based radiometers				
Precipitation	Radar				

With few exceptions, the need for forecasting of ocean currents has not yet prompted new technological developments and the setting up of automatic data acquisition networks. A first exception to this rule is given by the military community which has developed in the past 20 years automatic profiling systems for open ocean mesoscale forecast activities. Another exception is the implementation of a Tropical Atmosphere Ocean (TAO) automatic moored set of sensors for ENSO forecasting which will be described later (McPhaden, 1995).

Even though widespread, frequent, accurate and timely *in situ* observations of marine properties such as temperature, salinity, currents, oxygen, turbidity, underwater light, nutrients, phytoplankton and zooplankton are crucial to the understanding and prediction of coastal areas biomass fluctuations and thus sea health, very little effort has been made in the past to start monitoring programs with accurate measurements in the water column for all these variables. Any forecasting system must however be based upon a reliable observing system where data can be collected and disseminated in real time or with very small time delay.

The Voluntary Observing Ship (VOS) or ship of opportunity programmes (Rossby et al., 1995) for the global ocean have offered routine meteorological and surface parameters for decades and an example of coverage is shown in Fig. 6. Subsurface temperature profiles are obtained by means of expendable bathythermographs board (XBT) on commercial vessels. The coverage is shown in Fig. 7. However, it is also necessary to expand the VOS base to commercial lines, including container ships and ferry routes, especially for the Mediterranean.



**Figure 6:** Regional coverage of meteorological observations from merchant vessels, July 1993-September 1993 (Rossby et al., 1995)

EuroGOOS has started a working group on a Volunteer Observing Ferries (VOF) for European seas and first results indicate that 13 (Photosynthetic Available parameters Radiation, sea water temperature profile, conductivity/salinity profile, geographical position, time, ship's heading, turbidity, transmissivity, fluorescence, optical properties, phosphates and nitrates) could theoretically be measured at the surface and along several ferry routes. Several ferries already carry instrument packages measuring a subset of these variables. Both for VOS and VOF the data acquisition systems need to be further developed, in the first case to add multisensor measurements and to optimise measurements strategies, and for the latter to develop sensors that can measure subsurface profiles. Telecommunication of these wider data in near real-time should be encouraged and community distribution of these data organised.



**Figure 7**: Regional coverage of XBT and TESAC (temperature and salinity at the surface) messages from volunteer observing ships, July 1993-September 1993 (IOC/WMO 1993)

The Tropical Atmosphere Ocean (TAO) moored array developed to study and predict the ENSO phenomenon in the tropical Pacific (McPhaden, 1995) is an important open ocean global in situ meteorological and water column monitoring system developed since 1985. This array monitors air-sea interface parameters and subsurface temperature and current parameters at selected locations and chosen resolution along and on either side of the equator in the Pacific area. It is found in fact that such a network is essential to initialise OGCM of the Pacific and that real time data transmission and maintenance is possible without substantial loss of data continuity for several years.

The monitoring of Sea Surface the Temperature (SST) and the surface ocean currents are nowadays partially realised by remote sensing instruments, such as advanced infrared radiometers and radar altimeters. The reconstruction of SST at 9-18 km resolution for the global ocean is done from AVHRR by the Pathfinder Program (Smith et al., 1996) and analyses of SST are produced routinely but not in real time at several meteorological forecasting centres. Time resolution is about a and the accuracy of the week SST reconstruction can be as good as 0.5°C (Reynolds, 1988). For the altimetry, which gives the sea surface height anomaly with respect to an unknown mean value, the Topex/Poseidon accuracy is now a few

centimetres which makes this information useful for the Mediterranean area, where the signal is only few tens of centimetres. It has been proved that surface mesoscale signal can be reconstructed from the combined use of Topex/Poseidon and ERS-1 data (Ayoub et al., 1998) and that the large scale general circulation can be reconstructed from Topex/ Poseidon (Stammer and Wunsch, 1996) even with large geoid errors. These two remotely sensed data sets form an important basis for an network observational for operational oceanography but it is evident that they need to be complemented by subsurface measurements offered by the conventional moored stations, and the VOS or VOF or other in situ measurement techniques. Furthermore several questions related to almost real time analysis of sea surface topography need to be addressed before such measurements can be used in operational ocean forecasting systems.

Other promising techniques for operational ocean monitoring are drifting buoys or floats and tomographic arrays. The former have been developed for surface (surface drifters) and subsurface (SOFAR or RAFOS floats) but they have never been used in operational monitoring systems. Except for surface drifting buoys which measure surface meteorological parameters (e.g., Golmen, 1997) all the other instruments have more or less been used in proof-of-concept experiments (trying to interpret the particle

trajectory with more or less theoretical models) and only very few of these data sets have been assimilated into numerical ocean models (Carter, 1992). Long range acoustic transmissions can monitor the internal state of the ocean over tens and hundreds of kilometres. Basin-wide integrals or mesoscale information can be extracted about the heat content, stratification, or flows. The feasibility of a basin-wide transmissions in the Mediterranean Sea has been demonstrated during a nine month long tomography experiment in 1994. Strait throughflow observations with cross-strait acoustic transmissions have just been tested in the Gibraltar Strait. All of these could be conducted with shore-cabled instruments and would thus ideally be suited for a real time monitoring system. In addition to all these measurements, ship-mounted Acoustic Doppler Current Profilers (ADCPs) have been proved to give a three dimensional view of the ocean currents but work is required in order to see if it will be possible to insert them in a VOS system.

Sensors for continuous monitoring of the upper ocean biochemical variables have been developed in the past twenty years especially with ship towed instruments. These sensors have the capability of measuring the temperature, conductivity, primary production levels, and components of the zooplankton biomass. The towing can be done at fixed depth, such as in the case of Continuous Plankton Recorder (CPR), or with undulating instruments in the upper hundred meters of the water column. These instruments can be with multi-spectral irradiance equipped sensors and dissolved nutrient analysers. The CPR routes already exist for VOS (fig. 8) but the collected samples are usually analysed with long delay time.

More modern sensors, usually available on the undulating packaged instruments, have not been tried yet on VOS. Overall technological development of biochemical sensors can potentially be done for a variety of measuring strategies such as depicted in Fig. 9. There is a need however for parameter and measurement strategy to be checked against usage to initialise, validate or tune a numerical model of the ecosystem more than has been done in the past.



Continuous Plankton Recorder tow routes in the north Atlantic and North Sea.

Figure 8

#### Why the Mediterranean Sea?

In "The Strategy for EuroGOOS" (EuroGOOS, 1996) we read:

"... Forecasts of the state of coastal Seas and oceans for days to decades into the future will add several percent to the revenue of all maritime industry...The full benefits of operational oceanography are only obtained when observations and modelling are integrated at scales from global, to regional, to local...The European sea areas of especial interest are the marginal and semi-enclosed seas, Baltic, North West European shelf seas, the Mediterranean, etc..."

The Mediterranean Sea coastal area is one of the most heavily populated regions of the world ocean and a large part of the coastal nations' Gross National Products (GNP's) are produced through fishing, transportation, recreation and other industries depending on a healthy coastal environment (Jeftic et al. 1992 and 1996). It is a strategic area for Europe, bordered by many North African countries and opening eastward to the Black Sea. Shipping in this Sea is a backbone for the international commerce and trading. The management of this area, which consists of a semi-enclosed Sea, with complex social structures and cultural heritage, is a challenge and a need for the world. The MFS is concerned with a sector of the marine environmental predictions in the Mediterranean related to four major scientific and technological problems:

1) The first is the prediction of the Mediterranean Sea water cycle and water resources. This problem is urgent since most bordering countries are adjacent to desert areas and others live constantly with limited summer water availability. The long term (seasonal) accurate prediction of precipitation, river run-off, evaporation from the sea, is an outstanding scientific problem which needs to be addressed and needs an ocean forecasting component. It has been shown in fact that sea surface temperature in the Eastern Mediterranean is correlated with Sahel rainfall (Ward M. N., 1993) and that cyclonic activity in the basin can be connected to sea surface temperature signals.

- 2) Coastal algae biomass fluctuations can affect the recreation industry, can favour anoxic conditions and related marine ecosystem health problems and can cause damage to fisheries in extreme events. This problem is largely connected to eutrophication of the coastal areas and anthropogenic inputs through rivers play a major role, but remote effects, due to hydrodynamics, can be of comparable importance (MTP-I, 1996). Due to the particular structure of the ecosystem in the Mediterranean and its shelf areas, the coastal regimes are intrinsically connected to the large scale ecosystem structure. In order to sustain healthy coasts and predict responses of the coastal ecosystem to human activities in the Mediterranean area one has to consider the interconnections of the shelf areas with remote parts of the basin.
- 3) Fish resources are of great importance for the Mediterranean economy and fisheries are affected by all the environmental problems listed above. Being at the end of the marine trophic chain and being affected by climate change phenomena (Bombace, 1992) it is a very sensitive sector of the marine research which needs to be analysed in the context of marine environmental predictions from the open ocean to the coastal areas.
- 4) Oil exploration and commerce activities are an important industrial and pollution problem also in the Mediterranean Sea as well as in other parts of the world ocean. Environmental predictions, from the large scale surface and deep currents structure to the different biotic components of the marine ecosystem are needed in order to control and monitor emergency events and oil pollution.

#### DETERMINING BIO-OPTICAL PROPERTIES (x,y,z,t)



**Figure 9:** A schematic illustrating a methodology for determining the variability of bio-optical properties in space and time on a global basis using satellite as well as in situ data sets along with appropriate models. Applications could include determinations of the subsurface light field, primary production, particulate carbon fluxes, and the penetrative component of solar radiation (after Dickey et al. 1995).

# Identification of the user community

The societal impact of MFS will be felt in many sectors, from the civil engineering community, offshore oil and gas and ship operations to the managers of coastal marine resources and political authorities. For the Mediterranean in particular the user community includes:

- 1. coastal environmental authorities advising the management of the coastal area and its living resources. Any specific or local water quality control system should use the information coming from the MFS outputs;
- local political, regulatory, and enforcement authorities in order to handle emergencies occurring in territorial waters. The continuous monitoring and availability of nowcasts or analyses of the 3-D state of the sea and its associated biochemical parameters would provide important inputs for decisions taken to handle emergency events (oil discharge, extreme eutrophication phenomena, sea

health and pollutant dispersal and monitoring, etc.);

- 3. the tourist and maritime transport industries along the coastal areas of the Mediterranean and associated insurance companies;
- 4. the marine aquaculture community which is developing rapidly around the Mediterranean Sea and especially some of the coastal regions;
- 5. the meteorological agencies producing short, medium and long range predictions over the Mediterranean area;
- 6. the Mediterranean climate change community which needs a continuous long lasting observational network for climate scenario studies;
- 7. manufacturers of marine sensors involved in the monitoring of the basin, new community of forecast products disseminators, technical staff for routine MFS operations.
- 8. Offshore oil and gas operations, pipelaying, and cable laying operations.

### **Benefits**

At national and European level there is a strong public demand for improved management of water quality in the sea. Politically this demand is expressed through legislation, regulations and European directives, and through the creation of new environmental services and agencies, all of which provide a strong customer group for ocean forecasting activities.

There is a global and European commitment to climate prediction which requires ocean forecasting. This has been expressed via a series of important international meetings, agreements and conventions relating to marine resources, management of the sea, marine conservation and climate control. Many European nations have a commitment to the biodiversity convention. There is а determination to maintain and preserve biodiversity which creates a demand for marine monitoring. especially the and prediction of variables measurement describing biota and the concentrations of nutrients and contaminants. Complex models are required to predict levels of disturbance or pollution which are likely to pose a threat to different ecosystems.

The MFS proposes to involve directly a large number of countries bordering the Mediterranean with an exchange of expertise in order to :

1) build a cost-effective basin wide monitoring system;

- 2) build capacity in local centres to model the shelf areas with state of the art hydrodynamic modelling;
- 3) create a network between all the nations bordering the Mediterranean Sea, including the south coast states, which will freely share observational data and model results.

The overall aims of MFS have been designed to serve marine environmental predictions in Mediterranean Sea coastal areas. the Modelling and forecasting the Mediterranean will be of great benefit to the maritime industries of the Mediterranean region, the control of especially pollution, management of fisheries, and improvement of marine conditions for tourism. Forecasting the Mediterranean Sea climatic conditions requires coupled ocean-atmosphere models and an observational network which allows to initialise the forecast, both in the ocean and the atmosphere. Although far from being solved as a problem, the MFS advances the monitoring and modelling components toward a system which can be used for regional predictions of climate. The forecasting of Mediterranean Sea climate will have a large economic and humanitarian benefit for North Africa and the Sahel regions, since rainfall is correlated to the Mediterranean Sea state.

In the preparation of implementation plans for a Mediterranean Forecasting System a specific task will be to analyse the economic and social value of the forecasts, and analyse the up-take of information by potential users.

### **Economic and Social Impacts**

Operational Oceanography is a growing business in the world. If Europe moves fast now it will establish a lead, possibly globally, with a secure benefit also in terms of increasing sales of services, expertise and equipment. The present proposal, for example, includes an experimental buoy system for deep ocean with multiparametric sensors which, if developed adequately, could serve as a reference point for other forecasting monitoring programs.

The MFS Plan addresses the research issues required to set up ocean forecasting at the Mediterranean Sea basin scale and prepares the necessary steps to provide forecasts of primary production (algae) in the coastal areas.

The short to medium term economic benefits from this kind of activities fall into two categories :

- 1) economic benefits accruing to industries and services conducted at sea, beneath the surface of the sea and on the coasts;
- 2) economic benefits accruing on land through the prediction of climate variability (which is intimately connected to surface and deep ocean variability)

The social impact of this proposal will be first of all to promote Mediterranean wide collaboration, between the Northern and Southern Mediterranean nations. The forecasting of marine parameters outlined by the proposal will bring to a reduction of the risks, or warnings of public hazards and natural disasters impacting on maritime industries, tourism and offshore oil and gas platforms.

# **Overall Objectives of MFS**

# Scientific and pre-operational goals

The overall MFS goals are as follows:

#### Scientific

To explore, model and quantify the <u>potential</u> <u>predictability</u> of the marine <u>ecosystem</u> <u>variability</u> at the level of primary producers from the overall basin scale to the coastal/shelf areas and for the time scales of <u>weeks to months</u> through the development and implementation of an automatic monitoring and a nowcasting/forecasting modelling system, the latter called the Mediterranean Forecasting System as a whole.

#### **Pre-operational**

To demonstrate the feasibility of a Mediterranean basin operational system for predictions of currents and biochemical parameters in the overall basin and coastal/shelf areas and to develop interfaces to user communities for dissemination of forecast results

The outstanding scientific questions and technological developments required to achieve the goals outlined above are:

1. Can a real time basin wide physical and biochemical monitoring system be set up?

- 2. What is the impact of such an observational system and what data quality is necessary to enable useful forecast skill ?
- 3. What is the potential predictability of the Mediterranean upper water flow field at weekly and monthly time scales if we suppose that we know accurately the atmospheric forcing ?
- 4. What is the "internal" predictability of the flow system, e.g., how important is to know accurately the initial condition with respect to the external forcing parameters?
- 5. What is the potential predictability of the shelf areas viewed as physical components of the ecosystem?
- 6. What is the optimal set of intermediate and shelf model parameters (horizontal and vertical resolution, physical parameterisations) which will allow best downscaling of the OGCM simulations?
- 7. What is the potential predictability of phytoplankton biomass fluctuations and what are the major limiting factors, e.g., "internal nonlinearity" of the ecological system or errors in the representation of physical components of the models?
- 8. How do we downscale the ecosystem model from basin wide resolution to the coastal areas?

# The Mediterranean Sea: scientific background

The Mediterranean Sea is a basin largely dominated by open ocean processes acting on the coastal/shelf areas and determining the coastal/shelf circulation. Thus the prediction of the coastal circulation structures and the coastal biomass evolution involves the solution of a fully three dimensional, density driven circulation problem.

The large scale general circulation of the Mediterranean Sea has been described as composed of intense coastal/boundary currents and gyres, with intense variability at the seasonal and interannual time scales (see Fig. 10a and 10b, Millot, 1987, Robinson et al., 1991, Roussenov et al., 1995, Pinardi et al., 1997). The horizontal structure of the circulation is associated with a vertical circulation connected to deep and intermediate water formation processes occurring in the basin and the inflow/outflow system at the Gibraltar Strait. This conveyor belt system is represented schematically in Fig. 11 where the traditional Levantine Intermediate Water (LIW) conveyor belt is represented following the water mass characteristics together with the meridional vertical overturning due to deep water mass sources.

The large scale current structures of the basin are driven by the wind stress typical of the region (Fig. 12) and the heat fluxes which determine the rate of deep and intermediate water formation. This general circulation flow field impinges on the coastal regions and strongly influences the local dynamics of currents. Shelf areas in the Mediterranean are rather small in extent (see Fig 13) and they are separated from the deepest regions by steep continental shelf breaks. Thus this configuration makes possible the intrusion of the large scale flow field on the coastal/shelf

areas and the direct influence of the large scale currents on the coastal flows. Transport of material from the coastal areas to the open ocean will be enhanced by this mechanism with important consequences for the maintenance of the ecological cycles in the basin.

The time variability of the flow field described in Fig. 10 varies from the mesoscale (few weeks) to the seasonal and interannual scales, the latter mostly associated with the atmospheric forcing variability (Pinardi et al., 1997). Climatological estimates of the circulation parameters are then relatively bad predictors of the flow field structure since the currents can even reverse depending upon the season and the year.

The monthly average picture of surface chlorophyll for April and August from the CZCS satellite sensor shows the high productivity longitudinal and latitudinal gradients in the basin (Fig. 14). These gradients are partially maintained by the physical circulation structures described above and by the functioning of the food web which is different in various parts of the basin. On the overall basin scale, the primary production levels are maintained by fast microbial loop recycling processes occurring during the summer and by nutrient pulses from below the thermocline during the winter, especially in areas of deep water formation. However it is important to point out that the largest biomass concentration gradients are in the neighbourhood of river run-off areas (Rhône, Po, Nile, etc.). Thus for each different shelf area of the Mediterranean a careful analysis of budgets in terms of local and advective nutrient sources should be done in order to develop the appropriate nutrient monitoring system.



**Figure 10a:** Upper panel: circulation of modified Atlantic Water (MAW) (from Millot, 1987a). The major geographical features are identified by their initials., e.g., GL is Gulf of Lions, LS is Ligurian Sea, TS is Tyrrhenian Sea, AB is Algerian-Balearic basin, Ssa is Strait of Sardinia, AS is Alboran Sea, Ssi is the Strait of Sicily, BS is the Balearic Sea, C is Catalan Sea. Lower panel: Schematic general circulation of the Eastern Mediterranean. Dashed features are recurrent or transient upper thermocline structures (from Robinson et al., 1991)



**Figure 10b:** Schematic of Mediterranean Sea general circulation. Structures from both observations and model results.



**Figure 11:** The vertical water masses circulation and major conveyor belt systems of the Mediterranean. The upper panel show an along-Mediterranean section with water masses indicated by salinity values. The vertical recirculation of the Atlantic Water transformed into Intermediate Water is shown by the arrows. The lower panel shows a 3-D view of the previously mentioned Intermediate Water conveyor belt and the meridional vertical circulation introduced by the sources of deep waters located in the Gulf of Lion and Adriatic Sea regions. The meridional circulation is similar in dynamics to the meridional overturning cell of the North Atlantic.



**Figure 12:** *ECMWF* 8 years average (Jan 1987- Dec 1994) of 1000mb winds for January and August. The reference arrow indicates 10 m/sec.



**Figure 13:** coastlines and 10, 50, 100 m. contours of bathymetry over the Mediterranean area. Note the extended shelf areas only in the proximity of Northern Adriatic and Tunisian coasts.



**Figure 14:** Surface Chlorophyll average distribution from 1979 to 1985 for April and October. Pictures produced by the Ocean Colour European Archive Network (OCEAN) of the Joint Research Centre in Ispra, Varese, Italy.

# The monitoring system for Mediterranean forecasting

The observational system in support of the MFS should be composed of many parts, to be developed and implemented over the next ten years. A critical factor in the design of an operational observing system is to define the necessary and minimum number of observations which are needed to increase the accuracy and usefulness of the forecast. This process cannot be designed theoretically at the start, though the major elements should be considered. This is because the problem of predicting which measurement is more useful for a better forecast is theoretically not well posed. Thus we need a combination of "experimental work" and conceptual exercise to be able to set up the observational network most useful but economical for the MFS.

The following components are recommended:

### Ship-of-opportunity temperature and salinity monitoring

Here a VOS and/or VOF based measuring system capable of automatic recording and transmission of upper thermocline temperatures and salinities (0-500 meters) transmitting data to land based stations is envisaged (Fig. 15). The common instrument used is the expendable BathyThermograph (XBT) developed in the seventies. The accuracy of the probe is about 5-10 meters at 700 meters, with increasing accuracy closer to the surface.



Figure 15: Planned ships of opportunity tracks network for the first phase of strategic development

The Mediterranean is lacking such a data set at adequate resolution which is however present elsewhere (see earlier section) and it is the basis of data assimilation and forecast experiments in other parts of the world ocean. Conductivity measurements can be done on VOS or VOF in approximately the same way as the XBTs via the expendable CTD probe (XCTD) but accuracy is still under scrutiny. technological developments Important involve: the development of an automatic system for multiple launching of XBT, the feasibility of XCTD measurements on VOS, the data transmission to Mediterranean centres, data quality control and standardisation of data collection procedures, the usage of such data sets for nowcasting and initialising model forecasts and the design and implementation of the network of ship tracks.

### Ship-of-opportunity pelagic system monitoring

Here a VOS and VOF based measuring system for automatic collection of nutrient data profiles, optical parameters, primary production levels, phytoplankton and zooplankton biomass data in the first 100 meters of the water column is envisaged The continuous monitoring of nutrient, production, phytoplankton and zooplankton abundance at the basin scale is vital for the understanding of the coastal areas ecosystem response and the predictions of changes. Moreover, shelf areas can be eutrophic due to nutrient loading from rivers and coastal upwelling phenomena. An automatic VOS or VOF biochemical monitoring is again a plausible solution in order to get almost real time data for forecasting of pelagic biomass fluctuations at both basin scale and in the shelf areas. Important technological involve: developments the design of undulating towed instruments or packages on VOS or VOF, the design of the appropriate network, the determination of time delays involved in the analysis of the acquired data, the usage of these data to calibrate and initialise ecological models of the basin, standardisation of measuring methods over the whole basin areas.

#### Mediterranean Moored Multisensor Array (M<sup>3</sup>A)

Here we define the *in situ* moored stations system capable of measuring air-sea interaction parameters and upper thermocline current and temperature/salinity continuous profiles together with biochemical parameters for the euphotic layer of the Mediterranean (Fig 16). These moored stations should form the basis of the long term monitoring of the basin for the validation and calibration of the hierarchy of numerical models used for forecasting. They should be located in crucial experimental areas for ecosystem model validation and in a regular network grid of stations.



● 1st Phase: 1997–2000 ○ 2na Phase: 2000–2003 🛛 🗙 3ra Phase: 2003–2008 🐵 Part of National Network

Figure 16: Moored Mediterranean Multisensor Array (M3A). Station locations.

There are two aspects to the  $M^{3}A$  array: the first is the networking of moored stations with equivalent measurements and quality control, the second is the development of reliable sensors for the profiling of biochemical parameters on a moored station. The location of the array should be decided on the basis of the usage of data in model validation exercises. This means that the array should be put outside the strongly advective regimes of the coastal/shelf areas, which are partially dominated also by terrestrial inputs of strong local nature. Furthermore, the necessarily scarce spatial coverage of the stations network excludes it from being capable of resolving the strong lateral gradients of currents and biochemical parameters along the continental shelf margins. Thus the optimal locations of such moored stations are the deep waters (depth greater than 1000 meters) outside the continental shelf area which coincides also with regions far from fishing activities. Suggested parameters for M<sup>3</sup>A are: air-sea interaction parameters (air temperature, wind direction and amplitude, relative humidity), water temperature, conductivity, currents, primary production, photosynthetic activity, Photosynthetically Available Radiation (PAR), Oxygen, turbidity, nitrate/nitrite, particle fluxes, zooplankton biomass (acoustic), etc. The biochemical parameters should be collected in the first 100 meters while the physical parameters should be measured in the upper 500 meters or deeper.

#### Remotely sensed SST, colour and sea surface topography operational analyses

The data of interest consist of remotely sensed sea surface topography, sea surface temperatures and ocean colour (Fig. 17). The technological question is connected with real data analysis of these large data sets and their transmission through the network at a time frequency (from daily to weekly) useful to update forecasts. Regarding the radar altimetry, measuring the sea surface height along the satellite track, the technological question is how to produce sea surface height anomalies with a fast turnover time without loosing too much accuracy in the resulting product. The Mediterranean basin is particularly challenging since the large scale currents sea level anomaly signal is of few tens of centimetres and sophisticated retrieval algorithms are required to extract these values from the remotely sensed sea surface height signal.



Figure 17: Analysis of Sea Surface Height anomaly from satellite altimetry

On the other hand the SST accuracy for the Mediterranean should be tested especially for the summer months where low ocean clouds could develop. Colour data should be analysed from the newest satellite sensors and new algorithms should be tested in order to obtain relevant parameters for assimilation in ecosystem models.

### Lagrangian measurements of currents and water properties

Lagrangian data, combined with other moored or ship-based observations and with remotely sensed data, will provide the necessary information about, and monitoring of, the spatial and temporal variability of the Mediterranean sea dynamic system that will ultimately be assimilated into numerical models. The main advantage of Lagrangian measurements over other techniques is the relatively inexpensive way of obtaining broad geographical in situ sampling of oceanographic parameters at different water depths. The scientific aspects explored by water-following instruments range from the study of high-frequency tidal and inertial signals, on the one hand, to the investigation of seasonal and interannual variability of the mean dynamical characteristics in the different Mediterranean basins. other. on the Lagrangian sampling at the mesoscale, and most particularly in the vicinity of shelves and shelf slopes provide also crucial information on coastal processes such as deep sea and shelf interactions. The real (or quasi-) real time monitoring of currents and water properties has a variety of operational applications, providing such as the environmental sea conditions for pollution issues, commercial and military operations. The major technological question connected with such data sets is the development of data assimilation techniques capable of using the

potential information of the Lagrangian instruments. The other question is the determination of the space and time sampling required in order to get useful updating and initialisation information for the forecasts.

#### Acoustic tomography observations

Acoustic tomography is the most likely remote sensing technique for the interior of the ocean, since the water column is opaque to electromagnetic radiation. Recent experiments have demonstrated the usefulness of tomography for observing ocean phenomena or for monitoring changes in the ocean on meso- and basin-scales. One would expect that such kind of large-scale information is a good constraint for models that are to be used for predictive purposes. It is now technically and scientifically feasible to deploy acoustic monitoring instruments with data transmission capabilities on moorings or with shore-cabled stations. The impact of acoustic observations large-scale stratification, of meso-scale information, and strait-transports in an assimilation/forecasting system could be investigated.

### Numerical models and data assimilation methods

Any useful numerical modelling system of the Mediterranean coastal areas will consider the importance of the large scale flow field on the the high coastal currents. frequency atmospheric variability and the high resolution required to define topographic features. Thus a proper coastal/shelf coupling with the open ocean must be depicted in the framework of nested models which seem to be a robust tool in order to downscale the large scale currents to the required high resolution in the coastal areas. This is known to work for hydrodynamics in general but it should be true also for biochemistry where experience is lacking, and downscaling from the large scale to the small ones (shelf areas) could involve coupling of partially different ecosystem models.

To produce weekly and monthly forecasts of marine ecosystem parameters for the whole and regional/shelf areas the required modelling developments are: 1) develop direct and indirect (synchronous or asynchronous) coupling with atmospheric analyses and forecasts at short (week) and medium (months) time scales for the OGCM at basin wide scales and the nested regional/ shelf models. The indirect coupling will provide the short term forecasts and will serve as a tool for understanding the air-sea physical parameterisations needed, the predictability time scales of the oceanic flow field, the separate effect of errors in atmospheric forcing and ocean initial conditions on the short term forecast skill. The direct coupling will evaluate impact of ocean SST on atmospheric forecast and the potential of medium predictions range in the Mediterranean areas (ocean and atmosphere). This is the preliminary step toward the study of water cycles in the entire Mediterranean land-ocean area.

2) develop and evaluate the nesting procedures for the shelf models capable of interfacing the large scale high resolution OGCM and the coastal models (Fig. 18). The appropriate downscaling technique should be assessed in order to be able to achieve resolutions of 2-3 km in coastal/shelf areas, needed to resolve the physical flow field scales and processes. The goal is to be able to calibrate and verify each shelf model at the synoptic, seasonal and interannual time scale and customise the atmospheric coupling for the shelf area of interest. The predictability time scale of the coastal/shelf system should be assessed as a function of errors in lateral boundary conditions, atmospheric forcing space-time scales, and initialisation data. The forecast skill should be computed for short (week) to medium range predictions both at the regional and shelf scale.

3) develop ecological models at both basin and regional/shelf scale with the hydrodynamic components developed in 1 and 2 above. The ecological models should be able to represent the major nutrient cycling, primary production, major phytoplankton and zooplankton functional groups up to mesozooplankton. The basin ecological models should be composed of a main pelagic compartment and parameterisations for sinking of detritus in the deep ocean. The shelf models should consider instead the effective coupling of benthic biochemistry with the pelagic food web. The computational requirements of such work could be huge and several simplifications will be necessary. The major scientific task will be to assess the predictability time scales for primary production in the coastal and open ocean areas, the development of data assimilation techniques and the actual production of forecasts.



**Figure 18:** *Example of the nesting strategy from OGCM to shelf areas. Numbers indicate grid spacing.* 

# **Overall Strategic Plan**

The scientific and technological developments outlined in the previous sections are required to solve the many scientific questions which are at the heart of the marine forecast problem for the Mediterranean and its coastal regions. In synthesis the methodology of approach is:

1. Construction of a prototype permanent monitoring system for the physicalbiochemical components of the ecosystem in the Mediterranean Sea at adequate space-time resolution for model initialisation and forecast;

2. Construction of a basin wide ocean General Circulation nowcast/forecast Model and associated data assimilation techniques, for the physical components of the Mediterranean Sea ecosystem, capable of predicting the currents on the time scales of few weeks to months, together with nested regional/coastal/shelf models.

3. Construction of a coupled atmosphereocean regional model over the Mediterranean area. Techniques for coupling with extended range atmospheric simulations should be assessed.

4. Construction of coupled biochemicalphysical models capable of predicting the nutrients and phytoplankton biomass variability in the marine ecosystems of different coastal areas.

In the following we will outline a work time table for the scientific and technological developments outlined above. The work has been subdivided into three phases, respectively:

### First Phase (1997-2000)- Short term forecasts

• A VOS for XBT, CPR, XCTD and biochemical sensors should be established through a pilot project. Technological developments should concentrate upon the development of multiple XBT launching system, check of XCTD accuracy, analysis of CPR and development of biochemical sensors for nutrients. The network of ship routes should be minimal but enough to cover the large scale flow field, and real time data acquisition and communications should be established (see fig. 15).

- M3A system should be put in place for few stations all around the Mediterranean and networking and communications should be established, together with common data analysis procedures. Maintenance costs and sensor reliability should be checked, especially for the biochemical sensors (see fig. 16).
- Near real time analysis of satellite data sets should be tried, in particular for sea surface height (SSH), SST and ocean colour. This analysis usually requires long time delays between acquisition and release of elaborated data, due to the necessity of using sophisticated algorithms for signal processing. Near real time communication with modelling centres should be tried for assimilation in the OGCM (see fig. 17).
- An OGCM at 1/8 X 1/8 degrees resolution and 30-50 levels in vertical developed with should be data assimilation components in order to start forecast experiments with atmospheric asynchronous coupling at the 5-10 days time scales. Results from these short term forecasts should be disseminated for parameters such as surface currents, SST, mixed layer depth and structure. Development and testing of synchronous coupling of OGCM with atmosphere should be done in order to prepare the medium range forecasting activities.
- Impact of different observational data sets on the quality of nowcasts and forecasts should be studied, together with the development of multivariate
assimilation techniques, assimilation of novel data sets such as Lagrangian data, basin wide tomography. Observational system simulation experiments should be tried to minimise data quantity and optimise quality of forecast

- Nested regional/shelf hydrodynamic models into the OGCM should be calibrated and validated for seasonal and interannual variabilities in the different regions. Intercomparison of regional simulation skills for the seasonal cycle and interannual variability and customisation of atmospheric forcing over the regional models should be established (see fig. 18).
- Ecological models should be calibrated and checked against M3A and VOS data sets for the basin and the regional/shelf areas where they will be applied. Only simulation experiments should be tried at this stage. The goal is to understand limits of predictability of the ecosystem, the technical problems of coupling high resolution hydrodynamics to complex biochemical models, initialisation of ecosystem variables, comparison with non-synoptic data, intercomparison of coastal/shelf different regime simulations.

### Second Phase (2000-2003)- Regional and medium range forecasts

Set up a coastal monitoring system connected to the VOS system realised in phase I. A VOF system should be added and heavily instrumented with biochemical sensors. This network obviously will cover the regional areas, on or close to, the continental shelves of the basin. Furthermore, attention should be devoted to terrestrial inputs of devising nutrients. both by new automatic monitoring systems or networking with existing monitoring systems. In very shallow water areas (10-30 meters) the monitoring of benthic biochemical activity should be considered through benthic stations.

- the M3A network of stations should be increased and equipped with more biochemical sensors on all the moored stations. Further development of sensors for automatic detection of nutrients, zooplankton and primary production should be carried out (see fig. 16).
- Pilot experiments with tomography, lagrangian data and Strait throughflow observations should be established and the improvement on the forecast skill assessed.
- Development of a fully coupled Ocean-Atmosphere Mediterranean model and study of feed back mechanism between SST, water cycle and precipitation over land areas. Short term ocean forecasts should be tried with the coupled model and compared with previous asynchronous coupling forecasts.
- Assessment of short term forecast skill should continue from the first phase
- Pilot forecast experiments should be tried for the nested regional/shelf models, together with forecasts done at the overall basin and with the OGCM developed previously. Coupling of the regional/shelf models with medium term regional atmospheric forecasts should be tried.
- Simulation experiments should be tried with ecosystem models developed in the first phase of the project and data assimilation techniques should be developed for the biochemical components.
- Tighter links with a potential user community should be established, including assessment of utilisation of data, and feedback from users.
- Assessment of long (months) range forecasts in the ocean-atmosphere coupled system.

#### Third Phase (2003-2008)- Preoperational

- transition of the observational network to National and International marine operational agencies
- economic impact studies and user community needs drive the operational customisation of the MFS
- release of short and medium term forecast capabilities to National authorities
- full assessment of forecast skill in the coastal areas for the hydrodynamics and parts of the ecology.

#### **The MFS Pilot Project**

Phase 1 of the MFS has been partly developed as a proposal to the DGXII MAST Programme, called the MFS Pilot Project. Some short extracts from the Project Technical annex are shown in Annexes 1-3. The Pilot Project will start its activities in September 1998 and it is funded to last 2.5 years.

The MFSPP organises the automatic collection and near real time distribution of marine data sets and implements advanced modelling and data assimilation tools to undertake the first phase of the MFS plan, as described in the overall objectives. The data sets and models are:

- 1) *In situ* VOS data. Nine tracks of XBT temperature profiles every two weeks covering the whole Mediterranean at 10 nautical miles resolution ;
- 2) In situ multiparametric buoy station data (M3A). One pilot station in deep ocean which measures temperature, salinity, currents down to 500 m, biogeochemical parameters (oxygen, turbidity, chlorophyll and nutrients) down to 100 m and meteomarine parameters at the surface (10m winds, air temperature, air humidity, air pressure, wave direction and amplitude);

- Satellite sea surface height (SSH), sea surface temperature (SST) and colour (SSC). The whole basin remotely sensed data will be analysed and distributed in near real time in the same network of *in situ* collected data ;
- a multivariate data assimilation system for combined temperature profiles and sea surface height data from altimetry;
- 5) an Ocean General Circulation Model (OGCM) with 1/8 X 1/8 degree resolution and 31 levels, interfaced with : 1) 3-5-10 days forecast atmospheric forcing parameters from operational weather centres; 2) data assimilation tools in order to initialise 3-5-days ocean forecasts;
- 6) Several Intermediate and shelf nested models into the OGCM. The intermediate model will be at 5 km resolution nested within the OGCM and shelf models will be at 2 km resolution in various Mediterranean shelf regimes;
- 7) Complex ecosystem models in several shelf and across shelf areas. The models will be one-dimensional in this phase, describing in detail the biogeochemical interactions at the primary production level and interfaced with realistic atmospheric forcing and water column mixing.

The tools and data sets are also schematically represented in Fig. 19

The Project has been subdivided into three different phases during which different data sets will be released. The central time period of the Project is called TOP, Target Operational Period, where Near Real Time forecast experiments will be carried out with the OGCM. The others surround the TOP. They are:

8) Period TOP-2: preparation and test. During this period, going from the start of the Project up to month 15, the observing system will be deployed, the OGCM model will be coupled with atmospheric forcing and the Mark-II data assimilation components will be tested.

- 9) Period TOP-1: transitional. During this period, the quality of the communication system between the data collecting centres and the forecasting centre will be evaluated. The near real time satellite data will be made available together with the *in situ* VOS and M3A data to the modelling centres and trial forecasts started;
- 10)Period TOP: near real time forecasting. During this time period, the collected data will be all transmitted in near real time and three, five and ten days forecast experiments will be carried out.

The Project time line and the delayed and Near Real Time data delivery system is described in Fig. 20 below.

#### **Ocean data Bases** Atmospheric forcing Delayed mode MODB MEDATLAS Climatologies Surface Operational analyses or forecasts Near real time VOS XBT МЗА In-situ data buoy Coupled regional Near real time Ocean-Atmosphere model SSh SSt Colour Remote sensing Air-Sea Data Assimilation Coupling **OCEAN HYDRODYNAMICS** 3-D OCEAN STRUCTURE Nested Nested OGCM FORECASTS Intermediate Shelf model ECOSYSTEM MODELLING COASTAL PRIMARY coupled benthic-pelagic "aggregated" PRODUCERS pelagic biochemistry biogeochemical model FORECASTS + OCGM and hydrodynamics EVALUATION OF SKILL, ASSESSMENT OF OBSERVING and MODELLING SYSTEM

### Mediterranean Forecasting System

Figure 19. Schematic of the MFSPP methods and tools

### Block Diagram



Figure 20. The MFSPP time line and data delivery time line

### The EuroGOOS Mediterranean Task Team

This document is the result of the collaborative work between a large Mediterranean scientific community which hopefully will continue in the future. In order to organise future activities a Scientific Steering Committee (MFS-SST) is nominated which organises:

Periodic discussions and workshops on themes of MFS

• Co-ordination with external activities to MFS

- Preparation of funding proposals
- Synthesis of achievements
- Contacts with EuroGOOS Office, MATER Project and other relevant projects in the area.
- Dissemination of results

The MFS-SST is composed of:

1.	N. Pinardi (Chairperson)	pinardi@aida.bo.cnr.it
2.	G. Manzella	fisgms@est409.santateresa.enea.it
3.	A. Ruiz De Elvira	ant@puertos.es
4.	P. De Mey	demey@nanook.cst.cnes.fr
5.	PY. Le Traon	letraon@metis.cnes.fr
6.	A. Lascaratos	alasc@pelagos.ocean.uoa.ariadne-t.gr
7.	H. Roquet	roquet@meteo.fr
8.	C. Tziavos	ctziavos@edp.ncmr.ariadne-t.gr
9.	M. Gacic	miro@oce715a.ogs.trieste.it
10.	M. Astraldi	fisams@est409.santateresa.enea.it
11.	G. Triantafylou	gt@imbc.gr
12.	D. Jacob	daniela.jacob@dkrz.de
13.	U. Unluata	unluata@deniz.ims.metu.edu.tr
14.	S. Brenner	sbrenner@ashur.cc.biu.ac.il

It was decided that the Chairperson should represent the MFS at the EuroGOOS annual working group meetings.

### **Acknowledgements**

This volume was prepared under the support of the Mediterranean Targeted Project – MATER (Contract MAS3-CT96-0051). Dr. M. Zavatarelli (IMGA-CNR) and Dr. H. Cattle (Hadley Center, UK) are thanked for helpful comments on the text. Prof. P. Poulain and Prof. U. Send are thanked for their substantial contribution in writing the lagrangian and tomography sections of this report.

# Annexe 1 - Executive Summary of the MFS Pilot Project

This project develops a strategy for the implementation of а Mediterranean Forecasting System aimed at the prediction of marine ecosystem variability in coastal areas up to the primary producers and from the time scales of days to months. Such a predictive capability is required to sustain an healthy coastal environment and its management. A forecasting system of such kind requires two essential parts, an observing system and a numerical modelling/data assimilation component that can use the past observational information to optimally initialise the forecast. The technical rationale of the Project is based upon the hypothesis that both hydrodynamics and ecosystem fluctuations in the coastal/shelf areas of the Mediterranean are intimately connected to the large-scale general circulation. The second assumption is that, for the physical components of the ecosystem, monitoring and numerical modelling can work almost pre-operationally. A major goal of the proposal is to show that Near Real Time (NRT) forecasts of the large scale basin currents are possible.

In this project we develop and implement:

- a pilot automatic temperature monitoring system for the overall Mediterranean Sea (Voluntary Observing Ship-VOS system) with NRT data delivery;
- 2) a pilot Mediterranean Multisensor Moored Array buoy system (M3A) which could automatically monitor a complete set of physical parameters, such as temperature,

salinity and currents, together with relevant biogeochemical and optical measurements in order to establish the feasibility of multiparametric monitoring of the upper thermocline in the whole basin;

- NRT satellite data (sea surface height, sea surface temperature and colour) analysis and mapping on the numerical model grid;
- different data assimilation schemes in order to assimilate multivariate parameters, e.g., XBT from the VOS system and satellite sea surface height and sea surface temperature;
- 5) a strategy to carry out 3, 5 and 10 days ocean forecast experiments at the whole basin scale and for a total period of three months;
- 6) techniques to downscale the hydrodynamics to different shelf areas of the Mediterranean Sea with nested models of different resolution;
- cosystem models in shelf areas of the basin and a strategy for validation/ calibration with M3A data sets;
- 8) methods for assimilating nutrient, chlorophyll and PAR into predictive ecosystem models;
- 9) realise an overall NRT data collection and dissemination network which should allow the timeliness release of data for the forecasting exercise.

## Annexe 2 - List of Participants in the MFS Pilot Project

Participant n. 1 (coordinator) Dr. Nadia Pinardi **IMGA** Area Della Ricerca del CNR V. Gobetti, 101 40129 Bologna ITALY Tel. +39 51 639 8015/8002 Fax +39 51 639 8132 E-Mail: pinardi@imga.bo.cnr.it Participant n. 2 Dr. Giuseppe Manzella **ENEA** Centro Ricerche Ambiente Marino Località Santa Teresa P.O. Box 316 19100 La Spezia ITALY Tel. +39 187 536215 Fax +39 187 536273 E-Mail: manzella@estosf.santateresa.enea.it Participant n. 3 Dr. Christos Tziavos NCMR - Inst. of Oceanography Dept. Marine Geology and Geophysics Aghios Kosmas Hellenikon 166 04 Athens GREECE Tel. +30 1 9888444 Fax +30 1 9833095 E-Mail: c.tziav@posidon.ncmr.ariadne-t.gr Participant n. 4 Dr. Pierre-Yves Le Traon CLS Space Oceanography division Parc Technologique du Canal 8-10, rue Hermès 31526 Ramonville Saint Agne FRANCE Tel. +33 5 61394758 Fax +33 5 61751014 E-Mail: letraon@cls.cnes.fr Participant n. 5 Dr. Pierre De Mey CNRS/CNES/UPS 5566 LEGOS

18 avenue Edouard Belin 31401 Toulouse **FRANCE** Tel. +33 5 61332902 Fax +33-5-61253205 E-Mail: Pierre.De-Mey@cnes.fr Participant n. 6 Prof. Alexander Lascaratos University of Athens Dept. of Applied Physics University Campus- build. PHYS-5 Zografou 15784 Athens GREECE Tel. +30 1 7284839 Fax +30 1 7295281 E-Mail: alasc@pelagos.ocean.uoa.ariadne-t.gr Participant n. 7 Mr. Julian Icarus Allen N.E.R.C. Plymouth Marine Laboratory **Prospect Place** West hoe PL1 3DH Plymouth GEAT BRITAIN Tel. +44 1752 633468 Fax +44 1752 633101 E-Mail: jia@pml.ac.uk Participant n. 8 Dr. Catherine Maillard **IFREMER** SISMER **B.P.70** 29280 Plouzane **FRANCE** Tel. +33 2 98224279/98224541 Fax +33 2 98224644 E-Mail: Catherine.Maillard@ifremer.fr

Participant n. 9 Dr. Olivier Raillard SAFEGE CETIIS Aix Métropole Bat. D 30 avenue Malacrida 13100 Aix en Provence FRANCE Tel. +33 4 42936510 Fax +33 4 42265219 E-Mail: raillard@cetiis.fr Participant n. 10 Dr. Claude Millot **CNRS** LOB/COM B.P. 330 83507 La Seyne sur Mer FRANCE Tel. +33 4 94304884 Fax +33 4 94879347 E-Mail: cmillot@ifremer.fr Participant n. 11 Dr. Gian Pietro Gasparini CNR Stazione Oceanografica ISDGM p.o. Box 316 19100 La Spezia ITALY Tel. +39 187 536301 Fax +39 187 970585 E-Mail: gasparini@estofs.santateresa.enea.it Participant n. 12 Dr. Antonio Cruzado CSIC CEAB Cami de Santa barbara S/N 17300 Blanes **SPAIN** Tel. +34 972 336101 Fax +34 972 337806 E-Mail: cruzado@azatoth.ceab.es

Participant n. 13 Dr. George Zodiatis MANRE Dept. of Fisheries Lab. of Physical Oceanography Aeolou 13 1416 Nicosia **CYPRUS** Tel. +35 72304403 Fax +35 72365955 E-Mail: andrecwz@zenon.logos.cy.net Participant n. 14 Dr. Miroslav Gacic OGS Dip. Oceanologia e geofisica ambientale Borgo grotta gigante 32 Sgonico 34016 Trieste ITALY Tel. +39 40 2140210 Fax +39 40 2140266 E-Mail: miro@oce715a.ogs.trieste.it Participant n. 15 Dr. Philip Christopher Reid SAHFOS The laboratory Citadel hill PL1 2PB Plymouth **GREAT BRITAIN** Tel. +44 1752 221112 Fax +44 1752 221135 E-Mail: pcre@wpo.nerc.ac.uk Participant n. 16 Dr. Georgios Triantafyllou Inst. of Marine Biology of Crete p.o. Box 2214 Heraklion 71003 Crete GREECE Tel. +30 81 242022 Fax +30 81 241882 E-Mail: gt@imbc.gr

Participant n. 17 Dr. Philippe Dandin Meteo-France Marine Weather Forecast 42, av. G. Coriolis 31057 Toulouse Cedex FRANCE Tel. +33 5 61078290 Fax +33 5 61078538 E-Mail: philippe.dandin@meteo.fr Participant n. 18 Dr. Marcel Babin ACRI S.A. 260, Rue du Pin Montard 06904 Sophia-Antipolis FRANCE Tel. +33 92967500 Fax +33 93958098 E-Mail: marcel@ccrv.obs-vlfr.fr Participant n. 19 Dr. David Antoine **CNES** LPCM (URA 2076) B.P. 8 06238 Villefranche-sur-Mer FRANCE Tel. +33 4 93763723 Fax +33 4 93763739 E-Mail: david@obs-vilfr.fr Participant n. 20 Prof. Dr. Geir Evensen Nansen Enviromental Remote Sensing Center Edvard Griegsvei 3A N-5037 Solheimsviken Bergen NORWAY Tel. +47 55 297288 Fax +47 55 200050 E-Mail: Geir.Evensen@nrsc.no Participant n. 21 Dr. Fabio Raichich CNR Ist. sperimentale Talassografico Viale Romolo Gessi. 22 34123 Trieste ITALY Tel. +39 40 305617 Fax +39 40 308941 E-Mail: raichic@ts.cnr.it

Participant n. 22 Mr. Sanzio Bassini CINECA V. Magnanelli 6/3 40033 Casalecchio di Reno (Bologna) ITALY Tel. +39 51 6171411 Fax +39 51 6132198 E-Mail: bassini@cineca.it Participant n. 23 Dr. Michel Crepon LODYC Place Jussieu, 4 75252 Paris Cedex 5 **FRANCE** Tel. +33 1 44277274 Fax +33 1 44277159 E-Mail: mc@lodyc.jussieu.fr Participant n. 24 Dr. Roberto Sorgente IMC Località Sa Mardini Torregrande 09072 Oristano ITALY Tel. +39 783 22027 Fax +39 783 22002 E-Mail: sorgente@barolo.icb.ge.cnr.it Participant n. 25 Dr. Marc A. Garcia Lopez Universitat Politecnica de Catalunia Lab. d'Engin. Maritima C/Jordi Girona, 1-3 Modul D-1 08034 Barcelona **SPAIN** Tel. +34 3 4016471 Fax +34 3 4017357 E-Mail: garcial@etseccpb.upc.es

Participant n. 26 Dr. Steve Brenner **IOLR** National Institute of Oceanography Dept. of Physical Oceanography PO Box 8030 Tel Shikmona 31080 Haifa **ISRAEL** Tel. +972 4 8515202 Fax +972 4 8511911 E-Mail: sbrenner@ashur.cc.biu.ac.il Participant n. 27 Mr. Aldo Francis Drago Malta Council for Science and Technology Marine & Coastal resources network 112 West Street VLT 12 Valletta MALTA Tel. +356 241176 / 244965 Fax +356 241177 E-Mail: genmcst@keyworld.net

Participant n. 28 Prof. Sayed H. Sharaf EL-DIN Alexandria University Oceanography dept. Faculty of Science Moharram Bey 21511 Alexandria EGYPT Tel. +20 3 5435956 Fax +20 3 5435956 E-Mail: hamza@alex.eun.eg Participant n. 29 Dr. Johan Baretta VKI Water Quality Institute Ecological Modelling Centre Agern Allé 5 2970 Horsholm DENMARK Tel. +45 45769555 Fax +45 45762567 E-Mail: baretta@dhi.dk Participant n. 30 Dr. Ing. Ioannis Thanos MARTEDEC S.A. Achilleos 96 17563 P. Faliro - Athens GREECE Tel. +30 1 9850506 Fax +30 1 9851516 E-Mail: eant@ath.forthnet.gr

## Annexe 3 - Workpackage structure of the MFS Pilot Project

The Project is organised in several Workpackages which define the major subportion of work to be carried out by the partners.

They are:

### Workpackage 1: Voluntary Observing Ship (VOS) Temperature Data Collection

Task 1100: Software and hardware preparation

Task 1200: Data acquisition

Task 1300: Data quality control procedures

Task 1400: Future implementations

Task 1500: Data Management

#### Workpackage 2: Mediterranean Moored Multisensor Array (M3A)

Task 2100: Configuration, design and construction of the system

Task 2200: Lab testing, deployment and operation of the M<sup>3</sup>A

Task 2300: Data quality control and analysis procedure

Task 2400: Data management

### Workpackage 3: Near Real Time Remotely Sensed Data Collection and Analysis

Task 3100: Develop and test algorithms to process NRT altimeter data

Task 3200: Develop a Near Real Time SST product

Task 3300: NRT data processing before and during the TOP

Task 3400: Remote sensing data management

### Workpackage 4 : Ocean Data Assimilation and Impact of Data Strategy and Accuracy

Task 4100: Assembly and test of Mark-II DAS in the OGCM

Task 4200: Impact of system components on forecast skill

Task 4300: Observing system simulation experiments

Task 4400: Dissemination of data assimilation products

#### Workpackage 5: Numerical Forecasting Experiments During TOP

Task 5100: Collection of atmospheric forecasts and analyses

Task 5200: Preparation and Test of OGCM (TOP-2 Period)

Task 5300: Transition to forecasting (TOP-1 Period)

Task 5400: Near Real Time forecasting (TOP Period)

Task 5500: Dissemination of ocean model results and forecasts

#### Workpackage 6: High Resolution Simulations in the Coastal and Shelf Areas with Nested Model Implementations

Task 6100: Intermediate model simulations and data networking

Task 6200: High resolution Shelf Models in Test Case Areas.

Task 6300: Novel implementation of shelf models and technology transfer

Task 6400: Customised (downscaled) atmospheric forcing.

Task 6500: Intermediate and shelf area models data management

#### Workpackage 7: Ecosystem Model Validation and Hindcasting

Task 7100: Optimising parameter sets for regional seas ecosystem models

Task 7200: Biogeochemical properties data assimilation

Task 7300: Hindcasting the M3A Buoy data

Task 7400: Testing the response of the ecosystem models to high frequency meteorological data.

Task 7500: Recommendations for the monitoring of biogeochemical variables for the second phase of the MFS

Task 7600: Ecosystem models data management

#### Workpackage 8 : Data Management

Task 8000: MFSPP centres

Task 8100 : Protocols and Specifications for observational and model data archiving

Task 8200 : Data Flow organisation

Task 8300: Metadata flow organisation

Task 8400 : Near Real time Quality Control

Task 8500 : Delayed time Quality Control

Task 8600 : Integration of MFSPP archived data with other archiving systems

Task 8700 : General web pages at DMC

### Workpackage 9: Dissemination and Exploitation of Results

Task 9000: User identification

Task 9100: Dissemination policy for NRT data

Task 9200: Dissemination of MFSPP know-how

Task 9300 : Exploitation of results

- Allen J., I., Blackford J.C., Radford P. J., 1998 "A 1-D vertically resolved modelling study of the ecosystem dynamics of the Middle and Southern Adriatic Sea." *Jou. Marine Sys.*, in press.
- Anderson D. J. L., J. Sheinbaum, K. Haines, 1996. "Data assimilation in ocean models." *Rep. Progr. Phys.*, 1209-1266.
- Ayoub, N., P.Y. Le Traon and P. De Mey. (1997) "Combining ERS-1 and Topex/Poseidon data to observe the variable oceanic circulation in the Mediterranean sea", *J. Mar. Sys*, (in press).
- Baretta J.W., Ebenhöh W. Ruardij P. (1995). "The European Regional Seas Ecosystem Model, a complex marine ecosystem model". *Neth. J. sea res.* 33 (3/4) 233-246.
- Bombace G. (1992). Fisheries of the Adriatic Sea. In: Marine Eutrophication and population Dynamics (G. Colombo Ed.), 379-389.
- Carter E. F., 1989 "Assimilation of Lagrangian data into a numerical model". Dyn. Atmos. Oceans, 13, 335-348.
- Carton J.A, B.S. Grese, X. Cao and L. Miller, 1996. "Impact of altimeter, thermistor and expendable bathithermograph data on retrospective analyses of the tropical Pacific Ocean." *Journ. Geoph. Res.*, 101(C6), 14147-14159.
- Derber J. And Rosati A. (1989). "A global oceanic data assimilation system." J. Phys. Oceanogr., 19, 1333-1347.
- Dickey T., 1995. "Critical variables and their observations." International GLOBEC Numerical Modeling Working Group Meeting, Nantes (FR), Unpublished manuscript.
- EuroGOOS (1996) The strategy for EuroGOOS. EuroGOOS Publ., 1. 132pp.
- Ezer T., D.S. Ko and G. L. Mellor ,1992. "Modeling and forecasting the Gulf Stream." In Oceanic and Atmosphere Nowcasting and Forecasting, D.L. Durham and J. K. Lewis ed., Mar. Tchn. Soc. Journal, 26(2), 5-14.
- Ezer, T. and G. L. Mellor, 1994. Continuous assimilation of Geosat Altimeter data into a threedimensional primitive equation Gulf Stream model." *Journ. of Physical Oceanography*, 24, 832-847.
- Fasham M. J. R., 1995. "Variations in the seasonal cycle of biological production in subarctic oceans: a model sensitivity analysis." Deep Sea Research, 42(7), 1111-1149.
- Fukumori I., and Malanotte Rizzoli, P., 1995. "An approximate Kalman filter for ocean data assimilation, an example with an idealized Gulf Stream." Journ. Geoph. Res., 100 (C4), 6777-6793.
- GLOBEC (1997) "Globec Science Plan". GLOBEC Report 9 (IGBP report 40). 82pp.
- Golmen, L.G., 1997. EGOS-European Group on Ocean Stations. A continuously operating data buoy programme in the North Atlantic, 1997. In Operational Oceanography. The challenge for European-cooperation, edited by J.H. Stel, H.W.A. Behrens, J.C. Borst, L.J. Droppert and J.v.d. Meulen, Elsevier Oceanographic series 62, Elsevier, 141-147.
- GOOS, 1997. Coastal Module planning Workshop, Univ. of Miami, February 24-28, Report to J-GOOS-IV, 53 pp.
- Komen J.G., Cavaleri L., Donelan M., Hasselman K., Hasselman S. and Janssen P.A.E.M., 1994. Dynamics and Modelling of Ocean Waves, Cambridge, Cambridge Univ. Press, P.532.
- Lai C.-C., A. Qian, W. G. Scott, 1994. "Data assimilation and model evaluation Experiment datasets", *Bull. Of Americ. Meteor. Soc., vol. 75, 793-809.*

- Latif M., A. Sterl, E. Maier-Reimer and M. M. Junge, 1993. "Structure and predictability of El Ninõ Southern Oscillation phenomenon in a coupled Ocean-Atmosphere general circulation model." *Journ. of Climate*, 6, 700-708.
- McPhaden M.J., 1995. "the Tropical Atmosphere Ocean Array is completed." Bull. Americ. Meteor. Soc., vol 76, 5, 739-741.
- Miendl A., 1996. Guide to moored buoys and other ocean data acquisition systems. Data Buoy Cooperation Panel. Technical Document 8. WMO/IOC Geneva.
- Millot C., 1987. Circulation in the Western Mediterranean Sea. Oceanol. Acta, 10, 143-149.
- Moron V., A. Navarra, N. Ward and E. Roeckner, 1998. "Skill and reproducibility in climate simulations". *Climate Dynamics*, 14,83-100.
- MTP-I ,1996. "Interdisciplinary research in the Mediterranean Sea. A synthesis of scientific results from the Mediterranean targeted Project (MTP) phase I". *Research in enclosed Sea series-1*. *EUR 17787*.
- Philander, S.G., 1990. "El Ninõ, la Nina, and the Southern Oscillation". Academic Press, Vol. 46, International Geophysics Series.
- Pinardi N., G. Korres, A. Lascaratos, V. R. Roussenov E. Stanev (1997). Numerical simulation of the interannual variability of the Mediterranean Sea upper ocean circulation. *Geophys Res.Lett*, 24(4), 425-428.
- Pinardi N., P. De Mey, G. Manzella, A. Ruiz de Elvira and the EuroGOOS Mediterranean Test Case Scientific Steering Group, 1997. "The EuroGOOS Mediterranean Test Case: science and implementation plan." Operational Oceanography. The challenge for European Co-operation. J. H. Stel and H. W. A. Behrens, J. C. Borst, L. J. Droppert, J. V. D. Henlen, Elsevier Science B. V., 549-557.
- Reynolds, R.~W., 1988. "A real time global sea surface temperature analysis", J. Climate, 75--86,.
- Robinson A. R., 1994. "Physical processes field estimation and an approach to interdisciplinary ocean modelling". *Earth Sci. Rev.*, 40, 3-54.
- Robinson A.R., Golnaraghi M., Leslie W.G, Artegiani A., Hecht A., Lazzoni E., Michelato A., Sansone E., Theocharis A., Unluata, U. (1991). The eastern Mediterranean general circulation: Features structure and variability. *Dyn. Atmos. Oceans*, 15, 215-240.
- Rossby T, G. Siedler, W. Zenk, 1995."The volunteer Observing Ship and Future Ocean Monitoring". *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.*, 76(1), 5.
- Roussenov V. M., E. Stanev, V. Artale, N. Pinardi(1995). A seasonal model of the Mediterranean Sea. J. Geophys. Res., 100(c7), 13515-13538
- Sarmiento J. L., R. D. Slater, M. J. R. Fasham, H. W. Ducklow, J. R. Toggweiler And G. T. Evans, 1993. "A seasonal Three-dimensional ecosystem model of nitrogen cycling in the North Atlantic euphotic zone." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 7, 417-450.
- Smith E. et al., 1996."Satellite derived Sea Surface Temperature data available from the NOAA/NASA Pathfinder Program". http://www.agu.org/eos\_elec/95274e.html .
- Stammer D. and C. Wunsch, 1996. "The determination of large scale circulation of the Pacific Ocean from satellite altimetry using model Green's function". *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 101(C8), 18409-18432.
- Ward M.N. (1992). Provisionally corrected surface wind data, worldwide ocean-atmosphere surface fields and Sahelian rainfall variability. *J Clim, 5, 454-475*.
- Zavatarelli, M., Baretta J. W., J. G. Baretta-Bekker, N. Pinardi (1997) "The dynamics of the Adriatic sea ecosystem. Part I: an idealised model study". Submitted to *Deep Sea Research*.7